FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
9/11/2018 4:35 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/17/2018
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

96306-1

Supreme Court No.
Court of Appeals No. 76814-0-I

BEFORE THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION ONE

CREER LEGAL,
Appellant

vs.

MONROE SCHOOL DISTRICT,
Respondent

On Appeal from the Snohomish County Superior Court
Case No. 16-2-19365-31

***APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME
COURT***

ERICA A. KRIKORIAN, WSBA #28793
CREER LEGAL
11900 N.E. 1st Street, Suite 300G
Bellevue, Washington 98005
(425) 404-2399

BRIAN H. KRIKORIAN, WSBA #27861
Law Offices of Brian H. Krikorian
11900 N.E. 1st Street, Suite 300

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Creer Legal (“Creer”) hereby asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Section II below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner appeals from the published decision of *Creer Legal v. Monroe School District.*, Division I, Case No 76814-0-I. The decision was filed August 13, 2018, a copy of which is attached hereto.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1) Can the law of agency be applied to the Public Records Act to prohibit a requestor from seeking to enforce a legitimate and legally compliant PRA request?
- 2) Does an attorney who requests records under the PRA “own” the right to seek enforcement of such request, if some or all of the records benefit one or more of the attorney’s clients?

RAP 13.4 (b) provides that a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court: (1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is

involved; or, (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Review here is warranted under all four subdivisions of RAP 13.4.

The opinion here is contrary to all applicable authority, including clearly articulated and well-established decisions of the Washington Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals as well as the letter and spirit of the PRA. It is a direct attack on the legal mechanism that allows citizens to assess records revealing the conduct of public officials and ensure government transparency. The decision is without legal authority and, if left to stand, would undermine all that the PRA is designed to protect.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. INTRODUCTION AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The claims herein arise out of Creer's request that the Monroe School District ("the District") produce specific internal emails concerning the District's special education program. The District's search of its database revealed thousands of responsive emails. After almost one year of bi-monthly document productions, the District had released less than ten percent of the responsive emails. Then the District declared the PRA request closed. As of the date of this brief, 1,235 days have passed since the request was served and thousands of emails remain outstanding.

In October 2016, Creer filed a PRA enforcement action in

Snohomish County Superior Court, followed by a motion for summary judgment. Creer's motion was supported by overwhelming evidence that not only established flagrant PRA violations, but revealed the District's willful, bad faith conduct designed to circumvent its obligations under the PRA and avoid detection. The District did not offer any evidence disputing the violations. In short, Creer's motion was substantively unopposed. Rather, the District filed a cross-motion for summary judgment and sought dismissal of the case claiming that: 1) Creer lacked standing to bring a PRA enforcement action¹; 2) Creer's client (in a separate federal civil rights action) waived Creer's right to bring a PRA enforcement action; and 3) Creer's claims were barred by doctrine of equitable estoppel. Creer opposed the District's motion on the law and the facts.

Both motions were scheduled for oral argument on April 5, 2017. At the hearing, the trial court granted the District's motion, in its entirety, and ordered the case dismissed with prejudice. Given the order of dismissal, the court did not issue a separate ruling on Creer's motion. The trial court's order does not identify the grounds on which the District's motion was granted and the hearing was not recorded. Creer filed a

¹ As the Court of Appeal concedes, the issue addressed before the trial court concerned standing. Neither party briefed, or even mentioned, any issue regarding "ownership" of "rights" under the PRA. The Court of Appeals introduced the issue of "ownership", for the first time, in its decision attached.

Notice of Appeal on May 5, 2017. As set forth above, Division One affirmed the trial court's order by its decision of August 13, 2018.

2. BACKGROUND FACTS

Erica Krikorian ("E. Krikorian") is an attorney and practices in the area of disability discrimination and special education. She operates her practice under the dba Creer Legal, the plaintiff and appellant in this matter. One of the most pressing issues now in special education concerns the use of "aversive interventions" on special education students, particularly those with autism. Aversive interventions include placing a student in physical restraints or isolating a student in an enclosed area for some period of time. These practices are known to be dangerous and have resulted in serious student injury and death. The planned use of aversive interventions is now illegal in the State of Washington. Unfortunately, their use continues.

On April 27, 2015, Creer presented the District with a PRA request for all emails in the District's database, dated January 2010 to April 2015, that concern, refer or relate to aversive interventions. At the time of the request, Creer was counsel in a federal civil rights action arising out of the District's abuse of a seven-year-old autistic student and the April 2015 request included a request for all emails that concerned the autistic student

and his family, irrespective of the subject matter.²

In order to prevent the capture of emails containing search terms used in an unrelated context, Creer and the District agreed upon a set of two-word search terms that the IT department would use to identify responsive emails.³ The District's search captured 28,774 emails containing one or more of the two-word aversive intervention search terms.⁴ Given the volume of responsive records, the District arranged to produce the emails in bi-monthly installments until all responsive emails were produced.

Ultimately, the District produced over 40,000 bates-numbered pages. However, less than one percent of the requested emails were included in the pages produced.⁵ The vast majority of the material produced had nothing whatsoever to do with the subject matter of the request, including sex-industry spam emails, obituaries, school board member lunch orders, 750 consecutive pages of name tags from a Washington State School Directors' Association conference, a dog

2 CP 2374 (¶7); CP 2385-86. Creer had earlier made PRA requests that involved the represented parent and the child. The April 27, 2015 request was independent of those earlier requests.

3 CP 17 (¶9)

4 The District's original search captured 309,207 emails. Over the course of the production period, the District provided numerous totals for various sub-groups of emails that it categorized by content, sender, and/or time frame. The totals provided by the District ranged from 758 to 309,207. CP 2383 (¶37). Based upon the declaration testimony of the District's counsel, it could be established that at least 28,774 of the 309,207 emails fell within the confines of the April 2015 request. CP 2397-98.

5 CP 2374-2378 (¶¶7-12)

walking tutorial, a tax manual, building specifications for a structure in another school district, redacted elementary school phone directories, hundreds of pages of email delivery failure notifications, 3,164 completely black pages (with no text other than the bates-stamp) and countless internet vendor emails – peddling everything from purses and sunglasses to light bulbs and vacation packages.⁶ The handful of responsive emails that were included were duplicated numerous times and reproduced over multiple production dates.⁷

In March 2016, the District declared the production complete. Creer demanded that the District identify the responsive emails by bates number. The District refused. Creer then demanded that the District “re-produce” the sub-set of 758 board member emails dated January 2013 and April 2015. The District refused, stating only that all 758 of those emails were contained within the 4,174 pages produced on April 22, 2015 (bated-numbered 7643-11816).⁸ Creer reviewed the April 22 production numerous times. Each examination yielded a total of 38 responsive emails.⁹

Creer advised the District that it would be moving forward with an

6 Exemplars of the filler material included in the productions were filed as an Appendix to Creer’s motion for summary judgment. CP 292-1530

7 CP 2374 (¶5), CP 2377 (¶10), CP 2382 (¶34).

8 CP 1740-41

9 CP 2377 (¶11)

enforcement action under the PRA. Hoping to stave off such an action, the District agreed to identify by bates number the sub-set of 758 board member emails that it claims were produced on April 22. The District then created a document entitled “Itemization of Emails,” in which 775 emails are listed and identified by date, time, author, recipient, and bates-number. According to the District, all 758 board member emails dated January 2013 and April 2015 are included on the list.¹⁰ However, a review of the Itemization reveals that only 34 of the 758 emails are included. More importantly, the content and configuration of the Itemization reveals the District’s elaborate plan to conceal its wrongdoing.¹¹

A few weeks after it created the Itemization, the District commenced settlement negotiations with the parent in the federal civil rights action. An agreement was reached on June 3, 2016 and the District prepared a draft release. No PRA claims were asserted in the federal complaint or presented for trial and no mention was made of such claims in the District’s draft release. However, at the time of the agreement, the District knew that Creer was moving forward with its PRA enforcement action. The District also knew that, pursuant to *Kleven v. City of Des*

10 CP 2382 (¶ 34), CP 2082-2142 (Ex. 33 in support of Creer MSJ)

11 CP 2394-2395; CP 2382 (¶¶34 and 35); CP 1779-1800 (Ex. 17 in support of Creer MSJ)

Moines, 111 Wn.App. 284, 291 (2002), the parent would have the right to join in Creer’s PRA action, at least with respect to the records that concerned her family.¹² As such, the District demanded that the parent’s release of her claims under the PRA, along with her release of the federal civil rights claims. The parent agreed to the “pork barrel” addition to the waiver and the District amended the release agreement accordingly. At no time did Creer agree to release its rights to seek enforcement of its April 2015 PRA request and Creer is not a signatory to the June 2016 federal civil rights settlement agreement.

V. ARGUMENT

Whether it is characterized as “standing” or “ownership”, the issue presented in this appeal is whether Creer has a legal right to seek judicial enforcement of its April 2015 PRA request. The answer to that question is “yes” and the decision of the Court of Appeals must be reversed.

1. THE PERSON WHO COMMUNICATES A REQUEST FOR RECORDS HAS A LEGAL RIGHT TO SEEK ENFORCEMENT OF SUCH REQUEST

The PRA guarantees that “any person” who submits a request for public records has the right to access such records. RCW 42.46.080(2).

The statute further provides that provides that “any person” who is denied

¹² It is unclear under the law if the parent would have had standing to seek enforcement of the portions of the request that concerned other students or aversive interventions generally.

access to requested public records is entitled to seek judicial review of the agency's denial. RCW 42.56.550(3)-(4); WAC 44-14-04003(12)(“The requestor has an interest in any legal action to prevent the disclosure of the records he or she requested”).¹³

The person who seeks records under the PRA is referred to in the statute and the regulations as “the requestor.” RCW 42.56.520; WAC 44.14, et seq. The “requestor” is the person whose name is on the request, who communicated the request to the agency and who serves as the agency's contact during the course of the production. WAC 44.14.030(4); *Germeau v. Mason County*, 166 Wn.App. 789, 802-04 (2012)(holding that the individual who submitted the request was the requestor with the right to seek enforcement); *Burt v. Washington State Dept. of Corrections*, 168 Wn.2d 828, 834-35 (2010)(holding that the individual person who submits a public records request is an indispensable party to a proceeding arising out the request).

The rule is consistent under federal law. *Hajro v. U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services*, 811 F.3d 1086, 1105 (9th Cir. 2015)(“[I]f [one] can show that he personally filed and signed the request, he is the

¹³ The “any person” language is not just a creation of the legislature, it was part of the original initiative Initiative 276: “The initiative would require all . . . ‘public records’ of both state and local agencies to be made available for public inspection and copying by any person asking to see or copy a particular record . . .” *Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe*, 90 Wn2d 123, 128 (1978)

requestor for purposes of FOIA”); *Mahtesian v. U.S. Office of Personnel Mngmt*, 388 F.Supp.2d 1047 (N.D. Cal. 2005)(“[I]t is clear that any person who submits an FOIA request has standing to bring a FOIA challenge.”)¹⁴

In addition to a requestors inherent interest in the records, the rule that defines the submitting party as the requestor is designed to further facilitates open communication between the agency and the requestor thereby expediting productions. WAC 44-14-04003(3) (“Communication is usually the key to a smooth public records process for both requestors and agencies”); WAC 44-14-04001(“Both the agency and the requestor have a responsibility to communicate with each other when issues arise concerning a request”); *Hobbs v. State*, 183 Wn. App. 925, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014).

Here, E. Krikorian drafted the request, submitted the request and served as the agency contact during the course of the production. No legitimate argument can be made that anyone other than E. Krikorian was the “requestor.” As a requestor, E. Krikorian has the right to seek enforcement of her request. Whether it is characterized as standing, ownership or some other property right, E. Krikorian is entitled to seek

¹⁴ The PRA closely parallels the federal Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”), though the PRA provides for broader protections. As such, court looks to federal law when interpreting the PRA unless such reference would serve to narrow the protections under the PRA. *Hearst v. Hoppe*, 90 Wn.2d 123, 128-29 (1978); *Kleven*, 111 Wn.App. at 291.

judicial review of the District's violations of the PRA.¹⁵

The Court of Appeal seeks to circumvent this law by holding that E. Krikorian was the parent's attorney at the time of the request and that the request was therefore communicated as the parent's agent. From this, the Court of Appeals concluded that the *parent*, not E. Krikorian, was the requestor with enforcement rights. There is no authority, state or federal, published or unpublished that stands for such a proposition. In fact, the Court of Appeal's proposition was specifically addressed and rejected in *Germeau v. Mason County*, 166 Wn.App. 789 (2012).

In that case, Richard Germeau, in his capacity as the Mason County Sheriff's Office Guild representative, submitted a PRA request to the county seeking records regarding an internal investigation of an individual Guild member. It was undisputed that Germeau was acting on behalf of the Guild and in his capacity as its representative when the request was made. The county argued that Germeau, as an individual, could not seek enforcement of the PRA request, and that only the Guild had standing. The court rejected the argument wholesale and held that the individual human being whose name is on PRA request has an inherent

¹⁵ In an exhaustive search of authority across all jurisdictions, Creer has been unable to find a single case, state or federal, published or unpublished, in which the individual person who submitted the public records request was found to be without standing to bring an enforcement action, or somehow lost its right to pursue such an enforcement action if another interested party waived their right. Nor is there any case suggesting that ownership and agency law trump the clear strictures of the PRA.

interest in its enforcement, *irrespective of the capacity in which he was acting when the request was made*. *Germeau*, 166 Wn.App. at 804.

Inexplicably, the Court of Appeals does not attempt to distinguish *Germeau* but, rather, summarily states that its reasoning is “harmonious” with *Germeau*. The nature of such harmony is simply incomprehensible.

A similar question was presented to the D.C. District Court in *Ebling v. U.S. Dept. of Justice*, 796 F.Supp.2d 52, 64 (2011). In that case, the agency denied Ebling’s request for records regarding criminal investigations involving her nephew, Price. Price was precluded from seeking the records as part of a prior plea agreement. In support of its denial, the agency argued that Ebling was a thinly disguised agent of Price and that her request was an attempt to do an end run around Price’s plea agreement. The court rejected the agency argument, wholesale, stating “the question of whether Ms. Ebling is acting as Mr. Price’s ‘representative’ in pursuing her FOIA requests is, quite simply, irrelevant to this action”). *Ebling*, 796 F.Supp.2d at 64.

The Court of Appeals states that the holding in *Ebling* is inapposite on the grounds that “it relates to the waiver of a right to make a records request, not the right to maintain a cause of action.” This is a meaningless distinction. Ebling’s enforcement action arose out of the agency’s denial of her request, based solely on the status of her relationship with Price.

Reliance on the law of agency to undermine rights under the PRA is no more legitimate when the alleged agent is an attorney. First, there is no language in the PRA that provides for *any* exceptions to the enforcement provisions under agency principles. Second, attorneys are among the most common requestors of public records and regularly seek records that benefit one or more clients. In all such cases, the attorney who submitted had the right to seek enforcement of the request – irrespective of whether the request was made on behalf of a client. *Hajro*, 811 F.3d at 1104 (“[A] practicing immigration attorney who files and signs FOIA requests is a requestor under FOIA”); *Mahtesian*, 388 F.Supp.2d at 1048 (holding “there is no dispute” that the attorney who submits an FOIA request on behalf of a client has standing to bring an FOIA action); *Mayock v. Nelson*, 938 F.2d 1006 (9th Cir. 1991)(attorney seeking records on behalf of client could sue for enforcement).¹⁶

The Court of Appeals decision states that an application of agency law is further supported by the fact that requested records were useful in the federal civil rights action. This reasoning defies the plain language of

¹⁶ The only standing issue presented in attorney-requestor cases is whether the client *also* has standing to sue *in addition* to the attorney. In Washington, the client has standing along with the attorney requestor, at least with respect to the portion of the request that is specific to that client. *Kleven*, 111 Wn.App. at 291. Under federal law, the client has standing if specifically identified by name in the attorney’s request. *Mahtesian v. U.S. Office of Personal Management*, 388 F.Supp.2d 1047, 1048 (N.D. Cal. 2005).

the statute that prohibits an agency from considering the identity of the requestor or the purpose of the request when carrying out its obligations under the act. RCW 42.56.080(2); WAC 44.14.04003(1) and (2); WAC 44-14-03006 (“An agency cannot require the requestor to disclose the purpose of the request, apart from exceptions permitted by law (emphasis added)”).

While the Court of Appeals concedes that agencies cannot consider the capacity or motivation of the requestor, it holds that the court is not so bound. But the court *is* bound by the language in the statute. In fact, the PRA includes a *statutory mandate* that requires courts to liberally construe the disclosure provisions. RCW 42.56.030; *Nissen v. Pierce County*, 183 Wn.2d 863, 884 (2015); WAC 44-14-010 (“The act and these rules will be interpreted in favor of disclosure”).

2. MULTIPLE PLAINTIFFS CAN SEEK ENFORCEMENT OF A SINGLE PRA REQUEST

The Court of Appeals states that other issue presented on appeal asks: “Does the same alleged PRA violation support more than one cause of action?” This characterization of the issue and legal conclusion reached thereon are flawed.

This case is an enforcement action that asserts a single claim for violation of the PRA. As such, the Court of Appeal’s question is more

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