FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/13/2018 2:37 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 96306-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CREER LEGAL, dba for attorney, Erica Krikorian, real party in interest, individuals

Appellant,

v.

MONROE SCHOOL DISTRICT, a political subdivision of the State of Washington,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Donald F. Austin, WSBA 35293 Timothy H. Campbell, WSBA 46764 Attorneys for Respondent Defendant Monroe School District

PATTERSON BUCHANAN FOBES & LEITCH, INC., PS

2112 Third Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98121 Tel. 206.462.6700

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The Decision of the Court of Appeals is not in Conflict with the Decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals.

Krikorian's Petition for Review should be denied because the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Krikorian, as her client's agent, could not maintain the PRA claim. *See* Slip Op. at 5-6. Washington case law has consistently found that when an attorney makes a public records request on behalf of the attorney's client, the client owns the right to maintain a cause of action for an alleged PRA violation. *See Cedar Grove Composting, Inc. v. City of Marysville*, 188 Wn. App. 695, 710-11, 354 P.3d 249 (Div. I 2015); *Kleven v. City of Des Moines*, 111 Wn. App. 284, 290, 44 P.3d 887 (Div. I 2002).

For example, in *Kleven*, an attorney submitted a public records request to the City of Des Moines without identifying a client. *Kleven*, 111 Wn. App. at 287-88. The client of the attorney later sued the city for an alleged PRA violation. *Id.* The city argued that the client lacked the requisite standing to maintain the claim because it was the client's attorney who had communicated the records request. *Id.* The court held that the client could maintain the suit even though it was his attorney who submitted the PRA request because the evidence established that the request was made on the client's behalf. *Id.* at 290-91. Thus, the client in *Kleven* owned the right to the PRA claim.

Similarly, in *Cedar Grove*, the plaintiff's attorney made a public records request to the City of Marysville on the plaintiff's behalf. *Cedar*

Grove, 188 Wn. App. at 703. After the plaintiff brought a PRA action against the city, the city argued that the plaintiff lacked standing to sue because it was the plaintiff's attorney who actually made the request. *Id.* at 710. Citing *Kleven*, the court held that the plaintiff, on whose behalf the public records request was made, had the personal stake in the action sufficient to bring suit. *Id.* at 710-11, 713. Thus, it was the client who owned the right to the PRA claim.

Krikorian continues to misconstrue these cases, stating without authority that "[t]he only standing issue presented in attorney-requestor cases is whether the client *also* has standing *in addition* to the attorney." Appellant's Petition for Review to the Supreme Court at 13, n.16 (emphasis in original); Appellant's Opening Br. at 14 (emphasis in original).⁵) But neither *Kleven* nor *Cedar Grove* stand for the proposition that an attorney or agent who makes public records requests on behalf of the client or principal has standing to bring a claim independent of the client/principal's claim. *See generally, Kleven*, 111 Wn. App. at 289-92; *Cedar Grove*, 188 Wn. App. at 710-13.

Here, as the Court of Appeals correctly found, "[t]he evidence in the record incontrovertibly [establishes] that Krikorian acted as Miller's agent with respect to the records requests. *See* Slip Op. at 6. Indeed, until filing this lawsuit in October 2016, Krikorian consistently

⁵ Krikorian cites to *Kleven*, 111 Wn. App. at 291, for the proposition that a client has standing along with the attorney requestor with respect to portions of a request related to the client. This is false. Instead, *Kleven* stands for the proposition that the client, on whose behalf the agent makes a PRA request, has the personal stake in seeking relief under the PRA. *See Kleven*, 111 Wn. App. at 290-91.

maintained that the two public records requests were made on behalf of Krikorian's client, Miller. (CP 2435-36, Austin Decl., ¶ 9.) The first PRA request stated: "I am directing the request to you, as opposed to my client submitting the request directly to the district. However, if you prefer that she submit the request directly please let me know so she can proceed accordingly." (CP 2613, Ex. B, First PRA Request.) The second request stated: "Miller v. Monroe Public Records Act Violations and Sanctions." (CP 2617, Ex. D, Second PRA Request.)

In addition, Krikorian filed two motions to show cause in the federal lawsuit on Miller's behalf, alleging that the District wrongfully withheld records under the PRA. (CP 2621-42, Ex. E, First PRA Motion; CP 2688-99, Ex. H, Second PRA Motion.) The two motions requested penalties and attorney's fees on behalf of Miller. (*Id.*) As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, "Krikorian repeatedly represented [in the federal district court motions] that Miller made the PRA requests." *See* Slip Op. at 6.

Moreover, Krikorian negotiated and reviewed the settlement agreement which Miller signed. The settlement agreement specifically stated that Miller "solely own[ed]" the claims released and that the PRA claims were being released. (CP 44, Ex. BB, June 6 Email from Creer ("We have reviewed your settlement agreement and Erica Miller accepts the agreement as written.").)

Accordingly, there was sufficient evidence for the Court of Appeals to conclude that "[t]he records requests, federal court motions,

and settlement agreement support that Krikorian was Miller's agent from the inception of the PRA request to its settlement." *See* Slip Op. at 8.

"Agency is the fiduciary relationship that arises when one person (a "principal") manifests assent to another person (an "agent") that the agent shall act on the principal's behalf and subject to the principal's control, and the agent manifests assent or otherwise consents so to act." Restatement (Third) of Agency § 1.01 (2006). It is a long-standing principal of this Court that an agent derives from her principal only such powers as the principal has. *Schorman v. McIntyre*, 92 Wash. 116, 119, 158 P. 993 (1916). Thus, the Court of Appeals correctly found that "[b]ecause Miller, as principal, extinguished the cause of action, Krikorian, as agent, cannot assert rights that Miller no longer possesses." *See* Slip Op. at 9.

Krikorian mistakenly relies upon *Germeau v. Mason County*, 166 Wn. App. 789, 271 P.3d 932 (Div. II 2012) to establish an ownership in the cause of action. *See* Appellant's Petition for Review by the Supreme Court at 11-12; Appellant's Opening Br. at 12-13. In *Germeau*, the plaintiff was a Mason County Deputy Sheriff and the representative of the Mason County Sheriff's Office Employees Guild. *Germeau*, 166 Wn. App. at 792. In his capacity as Guild representative, the plaintiff made a PRA request to the Sheriff's Office for an internal affairs

investigation into another Guild member's conduct.⁶ *Id.* at 793-94. The issue was whether the plaintiff had standing to bring a PRA claim. *Id.* at 802. Division II held that the plaintiff had standing because he had a personal stake in receiving the requested information. *Id.* at 804. Notably, the plaintiff was not making the PRA requests *for* the other guild member as the other guild member was making his own PRA requests. *Id.* at 796.

The decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with *Germeau*. As the Court of Appeals noted, the plaintiff in *Germeau* requested the records as an agent of the guild and continued to act as an agent in prosecuting the cause of action. *See* Slip Op. at 11. Further, there is no indication in *Germeau* that the plaintiff was acting beyond the authority given to him by the guild. *See generally Germeau*, 166 Wn. App. at 789. Moreover, *Germeau* is distinguished from the case at hand as there was no settlement agreement resolving the PRA issues litigated in the case. *Id*.

Finally, Krikorian argues that "[i]n all such cases, the attorney who submitted [the public records request] [has] the right to seek enforcement of the request – irrespective of whether the request was made on behalf of a client." *See* Appellant's Petition for Review at 13. Krikorian's argument does not create an issue for review because this

⁶ Ultimately, the court determined that Germeau's request was not a request for public records made in accordance with the PRA but instead a request for records under the Collective Bargaining Agreement. (*Germeau*, 166 Wn. App. at 810.)

proposition relies entirely on federal case law interpreting records requests under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). *Id.* at 9, 12-13.

While Washington courts have looked to federal case authority for guidance when interpreting the PRA, Washington courts "have repeatedly refused to apply FOIA cases when interpreting provisions in the [PRA] that differ significantly from the parallel provisions in the federal act." *Kleven*, 111 Wn. App. at 291; *see also Amren v. City of Kalama*, 131 Wn.2d 25, 35, 929 P.2d 389 (1997); *Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe*, 90 Wn.2d 123, 129, 580 P.2d 246 (1978).

In doing so, Washington courts have consistently held that FOIA provisions do not provide useful guidance when analyzing a plaintiff's ability to bring an action under the PRA. *See Cedar Grove*, 188 Wn. App. at 711-12 (finding that FOIA "[did] not provide any useful guidance in applying the [PRA]" when analyzing a plaintiff's standing); *Kleven*, 111 Wn. App. at 291 (distinguishing several federal FOIA cases when analyzing a person's standing to bring a PRA claim).

Here, Krikorian's reliance on federal case law is misplaced because the PRA and FOIA have different remedial provisions. The PRA allows for monetary sanctions against the public entity. *See* RCW 42.56.550(4). This is not the case for FOIA actions. Under the PRA, a prevailing party seeking to enforce the PRA is entitled to all costs, including reasonable attorney fees, as well as statutory penalties against the public agency. *Id.* However, "FOIA does not provide a remedy of

money damages." *Johnson v. Comm'r of Internal Revenue.*, 239 F. Supp. 2d 1125, 1138 (W.D. Wash. 2002); *see also Amren*, 131 Wn.2d at 35 (noting that FOIA does not have a similar penalties provision to the PRA); *Hearst Corp.*, 90 Wn.2d at 129 (no similar penalty provision under FOIA). Rather, the remedy under FOIA is for injunctive or declaratory relief to receive the records. *See* 5 U.S.C. *S52(a)(4)(B) & (E); see also Johnson*, 239 F. Supp. 2d at 1138; *Stabasefski v. United States*, 919 F. Supp. 1570, 1573-74 (M.D. Ga. 1996).

The difference in relief available is significant. Allowing more than one individual to have standing under FOIA when the relief is to receive the records requested is vastly different from allowing multiple individuals to demand duplicative money penalties against a public agency for alleged PRA violations. Due to such differing provisions, Krikorian's reliance on federal case law does not control the issue of ownership of the PRA claims. *See Cedar Grove*, 188 Wn. App. at 711-12; *Kleven*, 111 Wn. App. at 291.

Krikorian's Petition for Review should be denied because Krikorian has failed to establish any conflict between Division One's decision here and any other decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). Specifically, Krikorian has failed to provide any controlling case law which establishes that an attorney-agent

 $^{^7}$ FOIA allows for "reasonable attorney fees and other litigation costs reasonably incurred in any case . . . which the complainant has substantially prevailed." (5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(E).)

owns a PRA claim where the attorney-agent submitted a public records request on behalf of her client-principal.⁸ See generally, Appellant's Petition for Review.

B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Relied Upon Washington Rule of Professional Conduct 1.8.

Krikorian's Petition for Review should be denied because her theory for maintaining a PRA cause of action creates a conflict of interest under Washington Rule of Professional Conduct ("RPC") 1.8. RPC 1.8 prohibits an attorney from "knowingly acquiring an ownership . . . interest adverse to a client" unless there is informed consent in writing, upon other notice safeguards. RPC 1.8(a). Further, "a lawyer shall not acquire a proprietary interest in the cause of action or subject matter of litigation the lawyer is conducting for a client," unless such interest relates to an attorney lien or contingency fee agreement. RPC 1.8(i).

Here, Krikorian asserts that she has a separate ownership right to seek enforcement of the public records requests because she "drafted the request, submitted the request and served as the agency contact during

⁸ Krikorian argues that multiple plaintiffs can seek enforcement of a single PRA request, citing to *West v. Olympia*, 146 Wn. App. 108, 192 P.3d 926 (2008); *King Cnty. v. Sheehan*, 114 Wn. App. 325, 57 P.3d 307 (2002); and *Spokane Research & Defense Fund v. City of Spokane*, 155 Wn.2d 89, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005). *See* Appellant's Petition for Review at 14-16. None of these cases are controlling or persuasive because they do not involve an attorney attempting to claim ownership of a client's public records request and attempting to prosecute such PRA claims as the attorney's own claim. Moreover, these cases involve the consolidation of separate public records requests. These cases are not inconsistent with Division One's holding that there is "a single cause of action arising from an alleged PRA denial." *See* Slip Op. at 4.

the course of the production." Appellant's Petition for Review at 10. Yet, the evidence incontrovertibly establishes that Krikorian filed two motions for show cause related to the same public records requests on behalf of her client, Miller, in the federal lawsuit. Accordingly, as the Court of Appeals noted, "if Krikorian had an interest in the PRA cause of action as a co-principal along with Miller, that would be in clear violation of RPC 1.8(i)." See Slip Op. at 10. Moreover, Krikorian's claimed interest in the PRA claim would have been adverse to Miller's interest in reaching a settlement agreement with the District—in violation of RPC 1.8(a). *Id.*

Thus, as the Court of Appeals correctly found, because the record lacks any evidence of the necessary informed consent or safeguards related to having a conflict of interest, Krikorian's position is untenable under Washington's Rules of Professional Conduct. *See* Slip Op. at 10.

C. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Does Not Raise Constitutional Questions nor Involve a Substantial Public Interest.

Krikorian's Petition for Review should be denied because the Court of Appeals' decision does not implicate constitutional questions nor involve a substantial public interest. See RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4). Despite Krikorian's assertion that this case involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States, see Appellant's Petition for Review at 1, Krikorian's Petition fails to identify, articulate, or further detail the constitutional

question allegedly at issue. *See generally* Appellant's Petition for Review. Moreover, the decision of the Court of Appeals clearly rests on the application of general common-law agency principles—not on a standing analysis. *See* Slip Op. at 5. Accordingly, this is not a proper ground for this Court's review. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Similarly, Krikorian argues that the Court of Appeals' decision is a "direct attack on the legal mechanism that allows citizens to assess records revealing the conduct of public officials and ensure government transparency." *See* Appellant's Petition for Review at 2. While it is well-settled that the Public Records Act "is a strongly worded mandate for broad disclosure of public records," *see Yakima Cnty. v. Yakima Herald-Republic*, 170 Wn.2d 775, 791, 246 P.3d 768 (2011), and the statute is to be liberally construed, *see* RCW 42.56.030, this alone does not create a substantial public interest for appellate review of any case involving the Public Records Act. Moreover, Krikorian's Petition for Review does not articulate or analyze the supposed substantial public interest at issue. *See generally*, Appellant's Petition for Review.

As noted above, the decision of the Court of Appeals turns on the application of common-law agency principles and the Rules of Professional Conduct. *See* Slip Op. at 5. The issue on this appeal is not a novel concept—an agent derives from her principal only such powers as the principal has. *Schorman v. McIntyre*, 92 Wash. 116, 119, 158 P. 993 (1916). As the Court of Appeals found, the evidence incontrovertibly establishes that Krikorian acted on behalf of Miller as

her agent and once Miller settled her claims, including any claims under the Public Records Act, Miller no longer had the power—as the sole owner of the PRA claims—to confer authority to Krikorian to prosecute this action. *See* Slip Op. at 5-9.

Accordingly, this case does not raise an issue of substantial public interest sufficient for review. See RAP 13.4(b)(4).

IV. CONCLUSION

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